

## D6.3a – Towards Minilateral Climate Governance? Analysing Climate Club Design Options through the lens of CBDR-RC

WP6 – Global Governance and International Cooperation

Catherine Hall University of Eastern Finland

Version 1



www.ndc-aspects.eu

March 2024

#### D6.3a – Analysing Climate Club Design Options through the lens of CBDR-RC

Catherine Hall

University of Eastern Finland (UEF)

cathhall@uef.fi

https://www.uef.fi/en

#### Disclaimer

The sole responsibility for the content of this publication lies with the authors. It does not necessarily reflect the opinion of the European Union. Neither the CINEA nor the European Commission is responsible for any use that may be made of the information contained therein.

#### **Copyright Message**

This report, if not confidential, is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License (CC BY 4.0); a copy is available here: https://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/. You are free to share (copy and redistribute the material in any medium or format) and adapt (remix, transform, and build upon the material for any purpose, even commercially) under the following terms: (i) attribution (you must give appropriate credit, provide a link to the license, and indicate if changes were made; you may do so in any reasonable manner, but not in any way that suggests the licensor endorses you or your use); (ii) no additional restrictions (you may not apply legal terms or technological measures that legally restrict others from doing anything the license permits).



NDC ASPECTS project has received funding from the European Union's Horizon 2020 Research and Innovation programme under grant agreement No 101003866

### **NDC ASPECTS** PROJECT & DELIVERABLE PROFILE

Project Acronym and Full Name:	NDC ASPECTS – Assessing Sectoral Perspectives on Climate Transitions to support the Global Stocktake and subsequent NDCs
Grant Agreement No.:	101003866
Programme:	H2020-EU.3.5.1. – Fighting and adapting to climate change
Topic:	LC-CLA-10-2020 – Scientific support to designing mitigation pathways and policies
Funding Type:	RIA - Research and Innovation action
Deliverable:	Part of D6.3 – Report and academic article manuscripts on sectoral climate clubs (one on the political economy of sectoral climate clubs, and one on the modelling results)
Work Package:	WP6 – Global Governance and International Cooperation
Deliverable Due Date:	Project month 30 (30/10/2023)
Actual Date of Submission:	13/03/2024
Dissemination Level:	Public
Lead Beneficiary:	UEF
Responsible Author:	Catherine Hall (UEF)
Contributor(s):	Lukas Hermwille (WI), Panagiotis Fragkos (E3M), Kostas Fragkiadakis (E3M)
Internal Reviewers:	Wolfgang Obergassel (WI), Lukas Hermwille (WI), Georg Holtz (WI), Andreas Meurer (DLR)

#### **Executive Summary**

In response to the limitations and failings of the multilateral UN climate change law regime, a range of new and dynamic climate governance arrangements have emerged. This includes minilateral 'climate clubs', which enable a subset of countries to tackle climate change beyond the UNFCCC. While proposed as a solution to move international climate policy forward, depending on their specific design, climate clubs could raise implications from the perspective of the principle of common but differentiated responsibilities and respective capabilities (CBDR-RC) that is enshrined in the climate regime. Accordingly, this paper aims to analyse different design options of climate clubs through the lens of CBDR-RC. First, it explains the general rationale for climate clubs and presents a spectrum of key club design features. Second, it conceptualises the principle of CBDR-RC and describes how this has been operationalised. Third, it draws on existing club-like arrangements – namely, the Climate Club launched at COP28, the Clean Energy Ministerial, and the proposed EU-US Global Arrangement on Sustainable Steel and Aluminium – to critically examine whether different design options are (likely to be) compatible with the principle of CBDR-RC. Last, the paper explores how differentiation could be woven into the architecture of future climate clubs.

### Contents

1	Introduction1
2	Conceptualising climate clubs: Rationale and key design features
2.1	The rationale for minilateral clubs in global climate governance
2.2	A spectrum of key club design features
2.2.1	Membership4
2.2.2	Benefits for participation4
2.2.3	Legal character
2.2.4	Follow-up, compliance and enforcement5
3	The principle of CBDR-RC in the climate regime7
3.1	Background, evolution and legal status7
3.2	Operationalising CBDR-RC: central obligations, implementation and assistance8
3.2.1	Differentiation in terms of central obligations8
3.2.2	Differentiation in terms of implementation9
3.2.3	Differentiation in terms of assistance9
4	Designing climate clubs of the future11
4.1	Assessing climate club design options through the lens of CBDR-RC11
4.1.1	The Climate Club and CBDR-RC11
4.1.2	The Clean Energy Ministerial and CBDR-RC12
4.1.3	The Global Arrangement on Sustainable Steel and Aluminium and CBDR-RC
4.2	Embedding differentiation into the architecture of future climate clubs
4.2.1	Differentiation through membership tiers15
4.2.2	Differentiation through members' commitments17
4.2.3	Differentiation through mechanisms for means of implementation
4.2.4	Differentiation through compliance mechanisms18
5	Conclusions
Refere	ences

#### 1 Introduction

The multilateral governance frameworks that have been created so far to address climate change – primarily, the United Nations Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC), Kyoto Protocol and Paris Agreement – have failed to drive the emissions reductions required to halt irreversible climate impacts. While the signing of the Paris Agreement marked a significant moment in the international legal response to climate change, the level of ambition captured in parties' current Nationally Determined Contributions (NDCs) is insufficient to set the world on a 1.5°C trajectory (UNFCCC, 2023).

However, a range of new and dynamic climate governance arrangements have proliferated beyond the UNFCCC (Jordan et al., 2015). Among these arrangements are so-called 'climate clubs'. Generally speaking, climate clubs are conceptualised as minilateral forums established between a subset of countries to tackle climate change outside of the UNFCCC, that can also include non-state actors. By crafting deals in smaller settings, climate clubs arguably allow for higher climate ambition, more effective implementation, and quicker decision-making processes (Victor, 2011). Accordingly, they are proposed as a solution to overcome the political impasse and stagnation that has plagued the multilateral climate regime.

Several types of climate clubs have been proposed that differ significantly in terms of their design structure (see Falkner, Nasiritousi and Reischl, 2022). On the one end of the spectrum are those characterised by binding membership rules and sanctioning mechanisms, that stem from the original economic perspective on general clubs (see Buchanan, 1965). The most prominent example is the climate club model proposed by economist William Nordhaus (2015), that (1) requires members to commit to a binding carbon price, and (2) imposes penalties against non-compliant members and non-participants. On the other end of the spectrum are those that simply aim to unite, and facilitate a dialogue among, countries with a common normative climate ambition (Falkner, Nasiritousi and Reischl, 2022). While climate clubs of this nature do not conform to the classical economic theory on clubs, our article takes a broader perspective, that includes any form of minilateral arrangement established among a group of countries.

Early empirical studies suggested that existing climate clubs were not necessarily focused on increasing climate ambition (Weischer, Morgan and Patel, 2012). These were instead characterised as 'discussion clubs', that failed to produce meaningful mitigation action (Andresen, 2014). Accordingly, Hovi et al. (2016: p. 3) concluded that no 'credible' climate club yet exists. A more recent analysis (Forner and Díaz, 2023) highlights that the existing landscape of minilateral climate initiatives are mainly focused on knowledge sharing. Notwithstanding, more concrete proposals that more or less conform to the Nordhaus model are being increasingly discussed, including by prominent think-tanks (see Tagliapietra and Wolff, 2021; Wolff, 2020). In addition, ongoing negotiations between the US and the EU to establish an arrangement on sustainable steel and aluminium could represent the seedlings towards the world's first Nordhaus-style climate club.

While climate clubs in theory offer a way of moving international climate change cooperation forward, they raise some complex questions. Among them are concerns around equity. The principle of common but differentiated responsibilities and respective capabilities (CBDR-RC) enshrined in the climate regime emerged from 'the application of equity in general international law' (Sands and Peel, 2018: p. 244). Accordingly, equity finds expression in the climate regime through the principle of CBDR-RC. The principle consists of two main conceptual components. The first acknowledges that all states share a common responsibility to protect the environment, while the second concerns the need to consider the differing circumstances of states, particularly with respect to their historical contribution

to, and capacity to address, the problem (Sands and Peel, 2018: p. 144).

While the content and application of CBDR-RC remain contested (Rajamani, 2023), the core of its meaning is generally agreed. In addition, it has been described as 'the most significant guiding principle' of the climate regime (Tian and Xiang, 2018: p. 253). Given that CBDR-RC represents a cornerstone of the climate regime, climate clubs should arguably aspire to embed the principle into their architecture. If countries can simply establish minilateral forums that side-step CBDR-RC, climate clubs risk being inconsistent and misaligned with the UNFCCC. Depending on the specific institutional design of a climate club, however, this could raise compatibility issues with the principle of CBDR-RC.

Existing legal scholarship has analysed the principle of CBDR-RC in the context of the climate regime, including how it has been conceptualised and operationalised, its evolution, its normative and legal status, and possible limitations of the principle (see e.g., Kolmaš, 2023; Pauw et al., 2014; Rajamani, 2023; Rajamani, 2018; Singh, 2022; Voigt and Ferreira, 2016; Tian and Xiang, 2018). Additionally, some scholars have examined how and to what extent the principle has been, or could be, applied beyond the UNFCCC context, for example in the international legal framework for international shipping (Chen, 2021; Kopela, 2014) and in relation to the European Union's proposal to include international aviation into its emissions trading scheme (Scott and Rajamani, 2012). Legal scholarship has also empirically assessed to what extent transnational climate governance initiatives interpret and apply differentiation in a distinct manner to the climate regime (Castro, 2016).

With respect to climate clubs and CBDR-RC, existing scholarly contributions have explored to what extent minilateral climate governance arrangements, at least generally speaking, are compatible with the principle (see e.g., Eckersley, 2012; McGee, 2015). Some scholars have also analysed CBDR-RC in the context of specific minilateral initiatives, including the Asia-Pacific Partnership on Clean Development and Climate (McGee and Taplin, 2009). Nevertheless, contributions that provide a critical and detailed legal analysis of climate clubs and their design options in light of the CBDR-RC principle are lacking. Addressing this research gap is an important and timely exercise, particularly as climate clubs continue to evolve from a theoretical construct into practical policy proposals, with real-world application and implications.

Against this background, this article aims to contribute to the existing scholarship by analysing different design options of climate clubs through the lens of CBDR-RC. The article proceeds in three key steps. First, Section 2 briefly explains the rationale for climate clubs and then presents a spectrum of key club design features, namely (1) membership, (2) benefits for participation (3) legal character, and (4) follow-up, compliance and enforcement. Next, Section 3 conceptualises the principle of CBDR-RC, in addition to briefly outlining its evolution under the climate regime and its contested legal status. Drawing on Rajamani (2006), Section 3 then presents three main categories of how CBDR-RC is operationalised under the climate regime, namely through (1) central obligations, (2) implementation, and (3) assistance. Section 4 critically examines three types of climate club design options to determine whether these are (likely to be) compatible with CBDR-RC, that employ a variation of the design features discussed in Section 2. This section draws on current club-like arrangements to examine whether these respective design options are compatible with the CBDR-RC principle, namely the Climate Club launched at COP28, the Clean Energy Ministerial, and the proposed EU-US Global Arrangement on Sustainable Steel and Aluminium. Section 4 then incorporates some concrete examples of existing minilateral climate governance arrangements that have in some way embedded differential treatment into their architecture, to help inform the design and practical creation of future climate clubs. Section 5 concludes.

# 2 Conceptualising climate clubs: Rationale and key design features

#### 2.1 The rationale for minilateral clubs in global climate governance

The climate club concept originates from club theory in economics. Buchanan (1965) is generally regarded as the founder of club theory, which primarily concerns the study of 'club goods'. However, previous works also contribute to the early literature alluding to club goods (see Knight, 1924; Olson, 1965; Pigou, 1920; Tiebout, 1956; Wiseman, 1957). Buchanan explores the concept of club goods to bridge the gap between classical purely private goods and purely public goods against two key variables: rivalry and excludability. Rivalrous goods refer to those that limit consumption between users (i.e. if one person consumes the good, this diminishes the ability of others to consume the good). Excludable goods refer to those that non-members can be excluded from enjoying. Buchanan distinguishes club goods from both private goods and public goods. Private goods are both rivalrous and excludable, whereas public goods are non-rivalrous and non-excludable. While club goods are defined as a subgroup of public goods that are also non-rivalrous, they are also excludable (Morin, Brandi and Schwab, 2023).

Due to the lack of progress made under multilateral frameworks, several scholars begun applying the general theory of clubs to international climate governance (see e.g., Falkner, 2016; Hovi et al., 2016; Nordhaus, 2015; Victor, 2015). Much of the literature discusses how climate clubs could, in theory, overcome the limitations and failures of the climate regime (see e.g., Hovi et al., 2016; Pihl, 2020; Victor, 2015). First, climate clubs can provide for enhanced flexibility in a smaller environment, thereby allowing for faster decision-making processes (Falkner, 2016; Victor, 2015; Weischer, Morgan and Patel, 2012). Second, climate clubs can allow for higher climate ambition among a limited group of countries, moving beyond political gridlock through a 'narrow-but-deep' approach (Falkner, 2016; Nasiritousi and Reischl, 2022; Victor, 2015; Weischer, Morgan and Patel, 2012). Third, climate clubs can provide for a more focused and tailored approach, for example the decarbonisation of a specific sector (Hermwille et al., 2022; Kumar et al., 2022; Obergassel, Wang-Helmreich and Hermwille, 2019).

#### 2.2 A spectrum of key club design features

Key design features proposed under the club mechanism that are discussed in the literature include: (1) membership; (2) benefits of participation; (3) legal character; and (4) follow-up, compliance and enforcement. While the model developed by Nordhaus (2015) has gained the most academic attention, several scholars have questioned the practical feasibility of its core design features (see e.g., Chen and Zeckhauser, 2018; Falkner, Nasiritousi and Reischl, 2022; Falkner, 2016; Hovi et al., 2016; Zefferman, 2018). Accordingly, several variations of climate clubs with different design features have been elaborated in the literature that deviate from the Nordhaus-style model, generating a spectrum of possible design features.

#### 2.2.1 Membership

In terms of membership, two 'extremes' can be identified. On one end of the spectrum are clubs that are strictly based on invitation only and thereby exclusive in nature, i.e. participation is contingent on the approval of club members. Conditions may even be negotiated individually, as is the case for EU and NATO membership respectively. On the opposite end of the spectrum are clubs that emphasise the importance of inclusivity, i.e. membership is open-ended. Climate clubs of this nature can be described as 'coalitions of the willing' (Hale, 2011).

However, there are also clubs that fall somewhere more along the middle of the spectrum, whereby membership is based on pre-defined and measurable criterion. An example is the climate club model advanced by Nordhaus, which would require its members to meet certain conditions, namely in the form of an internal carbon price. Climate clubs of this nature can be described as comprising 'ambitious members but with strings attached' (Falkner, Nasiritousi and Reischl, 2022: p. 482).

In terms of what specific countries should participate, studies have generally centred on establishing a club of the 'relevant' (Rinke and Schneckener, 2013). This typically refers to a critical mass of actors, that can make a meaningful contribution to international climate policy. Based on this, some scholars have argued that clubs should consist of countries with significant veto power and the capacity to tackle the problem (Falkner, 2016). Relevance has also been defined with reference to other parameters, including the share of global greenhouse gas emissions, in which case membership would require key emitters (Gampfer, 2016; Hovi et al., 2016; Victor, 2011).

Relevance has also been conceptualised through other dimensions, including ambition and willingness (Hale, 2011). Another element considered in the literature is legitimacy, requiring participation of those who are the most responsible for climate change, the most capable of tackling climate change, and the most vulnerable to climate change (Eckersley, 2012).

#### 2.2.2 Benefits for participation

Benefits for club members are generally characterised as either public goods or club goods. On one end of the spectrum are clubs that simply aim to produce public goods (or some type of positive externality). As the name suggests, non-members cannot be excluded from enjoying public goods. In the case of a climate club, the main public good is in the form of climate mitigation and is hence global in nature.

On the other end of the spectrum are clubs that specifically aim at producing excludable benefits, typically referred to as club goods. Due to their excludability, club goods are expected to generate private incentives capable of inducing countries to accept the club's membership requirements, promote the club's growth, and 'contribute more to the production of the public good. . . than they would do as non-members' (Hovi et al., 2016: 3; see Stua, 2017).

Several scholars discuss different types of excludable club goods, that can be differentiated between those that represent or directly affect material or financial resources versus those that don't. In relation to the former, examples include access to low-carbon technology and climate finance (Paroussos et al., 2019). Victor (2015) proposes various examples of club goods, including low-tariff zones for low-emission technologies and linking emissions trading systems. Further examples include preferential access to member countries' markets, collaborative research and development, and the opportunity to help shape the design of future (technical) standards. Other political and less tangible

benefits that constitute examples of club goods include reputational benefits and legitimation (see Falkner, Nasiritousi and Reischl., 2022; Green, 2017; Prakash and Potoski, 2007). Another example is enhanced bargaining power, i.e. by creating an exclusive environment and limiting the number of different interests at play, countries could gain enhanced bargaining leverage that ultimately leads to outcomes they deem more satisfactory.

An example of an existing minilateral initiative that arguably includes both public and club goods is the Climate and Clean Air Coalition (CCAC) (Unger, Mar and Gürtler, 2020). The main objective of the CCAC is to reduce global warming in the near-term to help realise the goals of the Paris Agreement, through minimising emissions of short-lived climate pollutants (CCAC, n.d). Accordingly, the CCAC arguably produces a global public good, through its direct aim to pursue emissions reductions (Unger, Mar and Gürtler, 2020). At the same time, however, the CCAC also produces benefits exclusively for its members. This includes the provision of financial support, primarily for its developing country members, as well as reputational benefits (Unger, Mar and Gürtler, 2020).

In addition to the provision of club goods, another mechanism that can be used to stimulate participation in a club includes the threat of sanctions (see Nordhaus, 2015; Victor, 2011; Victor, 2015). An example is the Montreal Protocol, which has now achieved universal ratification but started out as an exclusive club (Gopalakrishnan, 2021; Ott, 2014). To promote participation, trade sanctions against non-participants were introduced, in addition to the provision of financial incentives specifically for developing countries (Albrecht and Parker, 2019).

#### 2.2.3 Legal character

Club models can vary significantly in terms of their legal character. This can be assessed along several dimensions, primarily a club's legal form, whether it imposes legally binding obligations, and the precision of said obligations (see Bodansky, 2016).

On the one end of the spectrum are climate club models that are characterised by a strong legal character. This is exemplified by the Nordhaus proposal, which envisions the adoption of a clear and legally binding obligation in the form of a uniform carbon price (Nordhaus, 2015). A club of this nature would also need to take the form of hard law, preferably a treaty. In terms of practical examples, one could argue that an existing club with legally binding rules is the EU. Members are required to comply with a number of binding standards and rules that are contained within EU primary and secondary legislation. New members can only join if they agree to comply with these rules.

On the other end of the spectrum are climate clubs that generally lack a legal character. Most existing minilateral institutions fall on this softer end of the spectrum. Accordingly, these clubs do not set any binding obligations on their members, are not based on a formal legal instrument, and typically have low barriers to entry. Rather than seeking strength from legal character, these club models seek strength from their shared moral ambition/beliefs (Falkner Nasiritousi and Reischl, 2022). The CCAC is an example of an existing climate club that lacks legal character. It does it impose any legally binding obligations on its members, nor is it based on a formal legal instrument (Unger, Mar and Gürtler, 2020).

#### 2.2.4 Follow-up, compliance and enforcement

Closely related to legal character is follow-up, compliance and enforcement. Several options for

promoting compliance and enforcement with club rules are discussed in the literature. On one end of the spectrum are the more stringent proposals that envisage 'hard' sanctions against non-compliant members, for example withdrawing club goods or expulsion (e.g., Falkner Nasiritousi and Reischl, 2022; Gampfer, 2016; Leal-Arcas, 2020; Nordhaus, 2015; Pihl, 2020). On the other end of the spectrum are proposals that do not seek to enforce club rules or involve any sanctions for non-compliance. Most existing clubs lie at this end of the spectrum.

However, there are other 'soft' methods of achieving compliance and enforcement. Countries that fail to comply with club rules run the reputational risk of blaming and shaming. The inclusion of measurement, reporting and verification (MRV) rules represents one means of operationalising this soft mechanism of blaming and shaming. An example of an existing minilateral arrangement that integrates MRV rules is the International Energy and Climate Initiative (the Energy+ Partnership), which requires each of its developing country partners to establish a national energy registry to communicate results as part of an MRV system (Energy+ Partnership, 2012).

#### 3 The principle of CBDR-RC in the climate regime

#### 3.1 Background, evolution and legal status

Differential treatment has featured in international law for over a century, emerging as early as 1920 in the Versailles Peace Treaty (Stone, 2004). Explicit references to different circumstances and needs have been incorporated in international environmental treaties since the early 1970s. The principle of CBDR was, however, only formalised in Principle 7 of the Rio Declaration at the UN Conference on Environment and Development in 1992. As mentioned above, it is generally conceptualised as comprising two key elements: (1) a common responsibility on all states to protect the environment; and (2) differing circumstances of states, primarily in relation to their historical contribution to the problem and capacity to tackle the problem (Sands and Peel, 2018: p. 144). The principle finds full expression in, and is a hallmark of, the climate regime (Rajamani, 2023). Under the UNFCCC, the principle is articulated as 'common but differentiated responsibilities and respective capabilities' (CBDR-RC) and under the Paris Agreement, 'common but differentiated responsibilities and respective capabilities, in the light of different national circumstances' (Rajamani, 2023).

The principle has evolved considerably. Under the UNFCCC, countries are divided into Annex I and non-Annex I countries, with the former predominantly comprising developed countries and the latter comprising developing countries (Rajamani, 2023). Generally speaking, CBDR-RC under the Convention is understood as placing an onus on developed countries to take the lead, as specified in Article 3, through more ambitious and comprehensive targets and potentially at a higher standard of compliance, in addition to providing means of implementation to support developing countries. The Kyoto Protocol reinforced this strict dichotomy between Annex I and non-Annex I. Accordingly, CBDR-RC was operationalised through a binary approach, often referred to as a 'firewall' (see Savaresi, 2016). However, this dichotomy between developed and developing countries was criticised for its failure to capture the growing diversification across developed countries (Depledge and Yamin, 2009; Pauw, Mbeva and van Asselt, 2019).

The approach to differentiation under the Paris Agreement is more diversified and abandons the defined categories of Annex I and non-Annex I countries. The Paris Agreement interprets differentiation along several parameters that allow for a more nuanced approach to CBDR-RC (Rajamani, 2018). The introduction of the qualifier 'in light of different national circumstances' integrates a dynamic facet to the principle, that widens the scope of criteria for assessing differentiation (Voigt and Ferreira, 2016). Accordingly, as the circumstances of a country evolve over time, this will be reflected through their common but differentiated responsibilities under the Paris Agreement (Pauw, Mbeva and van Asselt, 2019). In addition, the Paris Agreement also introduces a system of 'self-differentiation' through NDCs. Although both developed and developing countries have a legal obligation to submit NDCs under Article 4, this bottom-up process requires countries to determine and define their own climate ambitions and priorities.

While the principle of CBDR-RC is a cornerstone of the climate regime, its legal status remains contested (Cullet, 2021; Rajamani, 2023). For example, already in the mid 1990's, Pallemaerts (1995) contended that CBDR was in fact emerging as a new principle of international environmental law. Meanwhile, other scholars such as Stone disputed this, stating that CBDR has 'not been elevated to the status of a customary principle of international law' (Stone, 2004: p. 299). Whether the principle has achieved the status of customary international law continues to be widely debated in the academic literature (see e.g., Cullet, 2021; Rajamani, 2023). Notwithstanding, CBDR-RC continues to operate as a *de facto* principle in the climate regime. Accordingly, Rajamani (2006: p. 160) contends that the

principle of CBDR-RC arguably possesses a 'species of normativity implying a certain legal gravitas'.

Despite its contested legal status, the principle has fundamentally shaped the climate regime and remains the 'overall principle' to guide its continued development and evolution (Rajamani, 2000: p. 124). In a similar vein, Bartenstein (2010: p. 199) describes CBDR as a 'structuring or guiding principle, that is to say a principle which plays a central role in the structuring and systematisation of the rules of law'. Differentiation is deeply engrained in the architecture of a number of different multilateral environmental agreements and has been pivotal in shaping international environmental law generally. More specifically, differentiation is a defining component in several core environmental treaties with universal or near-universal membership, including the Vienna Convention, Montreal Protocol, Convention on Biological Diversity, and the UNFCCC and Paris Agreement (Rajamani, 2006). Accordingly, Rajamani (2023: p. 298) has described CBDR as representing the 'bedrock of burdensharing arrangements' in environmental treaties. It can therefore be argued that due to its significance, the principle of CBDR-RC should apply beyond the UNFCCC, including within the specific context of climate clubs.

## **3.2** Operationalising CBDR-RC: central obligations, implementation and assistance

While the content and application of CBDR-RC remain debated (Rajamani, 2023), there are clear ways that differentiation manifests in the climate regime, some explicit and others more subtly. In addition to shaping central obligations, CBDR-RC is also woven into several procedural provisions. Drawing on the work of Rajamani (2006), this section identifies three main categories through which differentiation is operationalised in the climate regime.

#### 3.2.1 Differentiation in terms of central obligations

Differentiation features in provisions that concern central obligations, most notably in the context of mitigation commitments. Nevertheless, this has evolved significantly under the climate regime.

Under the Kyoto Protocol, central mitigation obligations are only imposed on Annex I countries, i.e. developed countries. While the Paris Agreement abandons the distinct classifications of Annex I and non-Annex I countries, it nevertheless distinguishes between 'developed' and 'developing' countries. For example, Article 4.1 acknowledges that 'peaking will take longer for developing country parties'. However, in the context of mitigation commitments, CBDR-RC is operationalised through self-differentiation, primarily through the bottom-up preparation and submission of NDCs. While all NDCs must reflect their 'highest possible ambition' in accordance with Article 4.3, parties are granted considerable flexibility to define the scope of their national contributions, in line with their respective responsibilities, capabilities, and circumstances.

However, this flexibility is caveated by 'normative expectations' concerning the *level of ambition* and *type of target* that is communicated in NDCs (Rajamani, 2018). Article 4.4 states that developed countries 'should continue *taking the lead* by undertaking economy-wide absolute *emission reduction targets*'. At the same time, Article 4.4 specifies that developing countries 'should continue *enhancing their mitigation efforts*, and are *encouraged to move over time towards economy-wide emission reduction or limitation targets* in the light of different national circumstances'. Importantly though, this provision in Article 4.4 is couched in non-mandatory language, i.e. the application of 'should' rather than 'shall' (Rajamani, 2018).

Least Developing Countries (LDCs) and Small Island Developing States (SIDS) are afforded special consideration and treatment vis-a-vis mitigation action. Under Article 4.6 of the Paris Agreement, LDCs and SIDS '*may* prepare and communicate strategies, plans and actions for low greenhouse gas emissions development that reflect their special circumstances'.

#### 3.2.2 Differentiation in terms of implementation

Differentiation is also operationalised in the climate regime with respect to provisions concerning implementation. This has materialised in several ways.

One way that CBDR-RC is interpreted under the Convention is through delayed reporting schedules. Under Article 12, all parties are required to submit regular reports known as 'national communications'. However, in line with Article 12.5, developed countries are required to submit their initial report within the first six months of joining the Convention, meanwhile developing countries are afforded three years. LDCs can submit at their own discretion. Nevertheless, as a result of the Cancún Agreements, reporting requirements under the Convention have become progressively alike for developed and developing countries (UNFCCC, 2011; see also Weikmans, van Asselt and Roberts, 2020).

Another example is through softer approaches to non-compliance under the Kyoto Protocol. The Kyoto's Compliance Committee is composed of two branches: a Facilitative Branch and an Enforcement Branch. In the context of developing countries, only the former branch applies, although it is available to provide facilitation to all parties implementing the Protocol (UNFCCC, 2001). To this end, the Facilitative Branch is primarily tasked with the formulation of recommendations, provision of advice, and facilitation of financial and technical assistance, among others (UNFCCC, 2001). In addition, when making decisions, the Facilitative Branch is required to consider the principle of CBDR-RC (UNFCCC, 2001). On the other hand, the Enforcement Branch possesses the power to invoke punitive consequences for non-compliance against developed countries (UNFCCC, 2001).

Differentiation also features in the Paris Agreement's enhanced transparency framework (ETF). First, while the ETF applies to all countries, it is designed with 'built-in flexibility' based on the parties' different capacities under Article 13.1. As per Article 13.13, the review process also pays 'particular attention to the respective national capabilities and circumstances of developing country parties'. LDCs and SIDS, however, are not mandated to submit a biennial report on their actions. Another indication of flexibility is the support that is offered to developing countries to enhance their transparency-related capacity, in line with Articles 13.14-15.

#### **3.2.3** Differentiation in terms of assistance

Differentiation in the climate regime is also operationalised through provisions that grant assistance, in the form of financial assistance, technology transfer, and capacity-building.

Differentiation in terms of financial assistance features prominently throughout the climate regime, with an explicit obligation under Article 4.3 on developed countries to provide financial resources to developing countries to support them with implementing the Convention. This is tied to developing countries' ability to implement their commitments. To this end, Article 4.7 states that 'the extent to which developing country parties will effectively implement their commitments under the Convention

will depend on the effective implementation by developed country parties of their commitments under the Convention related to financial resources and transfer of technology'. This obligation to provide financial assistance is reaffirmed by the Paris Agreement in Article 9. Notably, this support does not prescribe certain action on developing countries. Instead, this support is aimed at ensuring 'higher ambition' from developing countries, as per Article 5.5. Rather, many developing country NDCs under the Paris Agreement include components that are conditional on the provision of support from developed countries.

Differentiation is also operationalised through provisions dealing with technology transfer. Under Article 4.5 of the UNFCCC, developed countries are required to promote, facilitate and finance the transfer of climate technologies to developing countries. Likewise to financial assistance, this obligation is linked to the ability of developing countries' to implement their commitments under the Convention. Accordingly, as mentioned above, Article 4.7 relates not only to financial support but also to technology transfer. The Paris Agreement also acknowledges the importance of technology development and transfer for the effective implementation of the Agreement. This is reflected by Article 10.6, which states that support 'shall be provided to developing country parties ... including for strengthening cooperative action on technology development and transfer'.

The climate regime also sets expectations on developed countries with respect to general capacity building. While the Paris Agreement urges that 'all parties should cooperate to enhance the capacity of developing country parties', explicit referral is also made to the expectation on developed countries to strengthen support for capacity-building actions, in accordance with Article 11.3.

#### 4 Designing climate clubs of the future

#### 4.1 Assessing climate club design options through the lens of CBDR-RC

This section will now analyse three types of climate club design options against the categories of differentiation discussed in section 3.2, to determine whether these are (likely to be) compatible with the principle of CBDR-RC. When analysing the respective design options, the article will draw on current club-like arrangements that employ a variation of the different design features discussed in section 2.2, namely the recently launched Climate Club, the Clean Energy Ministerial (CEM), and the EU-US Global Arrangement on Sustainable Steel and Aluminium (GASSA). However, with respect to the GASSA, it is important to note that this analysis is speculative, given that negotiations are still in progress. Accordingly, the final design of the club remains to be seen.

#### 4.1.1 The Climate Club and CBDR-RC

Following an initiative by the German Presidency, the G7 in December 2022 published terms of reference to establish an international climate club (G7, 2022). At COP28 in Dubai, the 'Climate Club' was formally launched. It currently comprises 37 member countries, including the EU, and is described as an 'open, cooperative, and inclusive forum of climate-ambitious countries' (Climate Club, 2023: p. 4). Germany and Chile are joint co-chairs.

The idea to establish a climate club was initially floated in 2021 by the then German finance minister, Olaf Scholz. While the original German proposal envisioned the creation of a harmonised carbon price based on the Nordhaus club model (see Bundes Finanz Ministeriun, 2021), this failed to capture any political resonance within the G7 and also faced pushback outside of the G7. Accordingly, in moving from theory to practice, the Climate Club has evolved significantly.

In accordance with the Climate Club Work Programme, adopted in October 2023, the overall objective of the club is to support the implementation of the Paris Agreement's 1.5°C temperature goal and accelerate the transition towards net zero emissions, including a specific focus on the decarbonisation of industry (Climate Club, 2023). While it does not envisage the creation of any legally binding rules, it will have a focus on standard setting (Climate Club, 2023). Specifically, the club will seek to lay the groundwork for a standardised CO2 intensity calculation pertaining to selected products, define near-zero emissions for steel and cement, in addition to creating a platform with the aim of matching developing and emerging economies needs with technical and financing instruments, flowing from both private and public sources (Climate Club, 2023). In addition, the club will also seek to provide support to its members with respect to strengthening the measurement and reporting of emissions in relation to the steel and cement sectors (Climate Club, 2023). In terms of benefits for participation, the power to help shape definitions in relation to green materials constitutes one example of a club good. Other examples include access to technical and financial support, in addition to enhanced reputation and legitimation.

While described as open and inclusive on paper, the Climate Club was originally initiated by a group of wealthy, industrialised nations. At the time, this instigated concerns that the G7 were 'setting the agenda on climate change' (Arhin and Kalaba, 2023). Additionally, the terms of reference specified that members of the proposed club 'may – on a voluntary – provide support to developing countries' (G7, 2022: p. 3). Whether the voluntary nature of this support was sufficient in the eyes of Global South countries, and would ultimately motivate them to join, remained uncertain. However, as announced

at Dubai, the Climate Club comprises a number of developing countries. Of the 37 members, just under half are developing countries.

Prima facie, inclusive clubs of this nature are unlikely to result in many implications from the perspective of CBDR-RC. The more pressing concern arguably surrounds whether they represent yet 'another forum for rhetorical discussion' (Huda, 2023). If a club's membership becomes too inclusive, it could come up against the same political challenges that have plagued the multilateral climate regime (Unger and Thielges, 2023), falling foul to the 'least-ambitious-party logic' (Hovi et al., 2019: p. 1091). This challenge can be related to the club good of increased bargaining power. Initially, each new member that is aligned with the core values and interests of the club increases bargaining power. However, if the diversity of values and interests within the club becomes larger than the opposition outside of the club, the club good is essentially lost and the club itself can quickly become obsolete.

Notwithstanding, there are a couple of important points that require brief consideration with respect to the Climate Club and CBDR-RC. First, the Climate Club has the objective of accelerating climate action and ambition to achieve climate neutrality by or around 2050 (Climate Club, 2023). While the principle of CBDR-RC expects developed countries to take a lead role in reducing emissions, as it currently stands, the club arguably places a heavy and unfair burden on Global South countries to decarbonise their economies, and arguably at the expense of advancing their socio-economic development. Nevertheless, this challenge could be resolved by differentiation i.e. differentiated obligations in the form of diverse net-zero targets.

Second, the Climate Club will have a specific focus on addressing carbon leakage (Climate Club, 2023). While the technical details have yet to be finalised, this could potentially result in the eventual adoption of trade mechanisms, including tariffs on carbon-intensive goods. Countries that rely heavily on the exports of such goods and who do not currently have carbon pricing mechanisms in place, particularly developing countries, would be disproportionately affected by such trade measures (Arhin and Kalaba, 2023). Again, however, this challenge could be addressed by differential treatment.

#### 4.1.2 The Clean Energy Ministerial and CBDR-RC

The CEM is an example of an exclusive climate club, given that participation is strictly via invitation (Tosun and Rinscheid, 2020). More specifically, its membership comprises the world's key economies, bringing together the 'largest and leading countries' (CEM, 2023). Accordingly, the CEM accounts for 75% of global GHG emissions (CEM, 2019).

The CEM has the overall objective of advancing the global clean energy transition (CEM, 2023). While it does not set any legally binding obligations on its members, it has established several concrete measures and targets through different initiatives to meet this objective (Yu, 2019). With respect to exclusive club goods, the CEM primarily offers benefits for participation in the form of access to clean energy expertise and technology, in addition to the economic gains this may lead to in terms of venturing into new markets (Tosun and Rinscheid, 2020).

In terms of CBDR-RC, the most problematic aspect vis-a-vis clubs of this nature concerns their lack of inclusivity. By providing exclusive venues specifically for the world's 'powerful elites' (Bäckstrand, Zelli and Schleifer, 2018: p. 341), clubs of this nature marginalise a number of countries, particularly those most vulnerable to the negative impacts of climate change, namely SIDS and LDCs. Such exclusivity in climate minilateralism has generated strong criticism from scholars for its 'considerable lack of inclusiveness' and more specifically, lack of representation concerning poorer countries (Bäckstrand,

Zelli and Schleifer, 2018: p. 349).

According to Eckersley (2012: p. 26), forming clubs around a select number of nations, especially major emitters, is elitist, self-serving and 'likely to thwart the justice principles of the UNFCCC'. She therefore argues that climate minilateralism must be centred on the notion of common but differentiated *representation*, i.e. expanding membership beyond key emitters to include the most capable, the most responsible, and the most vulnerable (Eckersley, 2012: p. 26). Weischer, Morgan and Patel (2012: p. 184) state that climate clubs 'privilege the voices of those within clubs at the expense of those outside, reproducing existing international hierarchies'. McGee (2015: p. 134) makes a similar point, highlighting that climate minilateralism will lead to marginalising and side-lining 'the voices of smaller and less powerful actors'. The key issue here is that major decisions concerning international climate policy could be taken that negatively implicate developing countries. For example, if key emitters come together under an exclusive club, like the CEM, and agree on activities that are not aligned with 1.5°C and especially 2°C degree pathways, this will adversely affect those most vulnerable to climate impacts.

Adopting a critical lens to the rise of minilateralism in global climate governance, McGee (2015) concludes that climate clubs have been 'strategically' formed by powerful countries as forums to contest and side-step the CBDR principle, specifically in relation to the binding mitigation targets set by the Kyoto Protocol on developed countries. McGee (2015: p. 138) argues that some club-like arrangements – including the Asia-Pacific Partnership on Clean Development and Climate and Major Economies Forum on Energy and Climate – were created as a way for developed countries to circumvent and 'weaken formal differentiation'. Nevertheless, empirical studies suggest that a 'third wave' of climate minilateralism has provided a more inclusive landscape, through the creation of new clubs specifically geared towards developing nations, in addition to existing clubs adopting a more inclusive approach to participation (Brandi and Bauer, 2017).

#### 4.1.3 The Global Arrangement on Sustainable Steel and Aluminium and CBDR-RC

In the lead up to Glasgow Climate Change Conference in 2021, the EU and the US announced their decision to resolve their long standing bilateral trade dispute (European Commission, 2021a). Tensions between the two countries can be traced to the former US Trump Administration, which introduced so-called 'national security' tariffs on both steel and aluminium exports in 2018. Accordingly, the US agreed to temporarily suspend its import tariffs on EU steel and aluminium (European Commission, 2021b). The EU also agreed to remove its rebalancing measures (i.e. retaliatory tariffs) on US exports (European Commission, 2021b). In addition, both parties agreed to suspend their respective disputes to the World Trade Organisation (European Commission, 2021b).

As part of this deal, the EU and the US also announced their intention to launch a new club-like arrangement on steel and aluminium, referred to as the GASSA (European Commission, 2021a). The objective of the agreement, which will renew old transatlantic trade flows between the EU and the US, is twofold. It seeks to address global overcapacity and carbon intensity in the steel and aluminium industries (European Commission, 2021a). As currently proposed, the agreement will essentially function as a joint tariff zone, imposing trade barriers against carbon-intensive imports from non-market economies outside of the club.

While the EU and US were aiming to conclude negotiations by October 2023 (The White House, 2023),

they have so far failed to secure a final agreement. Accordingly, negotiations are still ongoing. Respective negotiation positions of the EU and US have been exchanged through 'concept papers' between December 2022 and January 2023 (Kleimann, 2023). With regard to how the GASSA should be designed, these concept proposals diverge from one another in certain aspects. While it is therefore not possible to paint an exact picture of what the GASSA will ultimately look like, the proposed arrangement corresponds to the Nordhaus-style club model in several ways.

For starters, while intended to be 'open to any interested country' (European Commission, 2021a), the arrangement sets clear membership criteria. In line with the US concept proposal, participation in the arrangement would be contingent on a 'countries' average embedded product emissions, applicant economies, contributions to non-market excess capacity, and a to-be-agreed minimum percentage of public procurement of low-emission steel and aluminium' (Kleimann, 2023: p. 8). While the EU concept proposal also entails that participation will depend on average emissions intensity, it additionally proposes that members should undertake legally binding obligations to fully decarbonise their steel and aluminium sectors by 2050 (Kleimann, 2023).

In addition to the inclusion of clear membership criteria and legally binding commitments, the GASSA also foresees the creation of excludable club goods. Countries that opt to join the GASSA would be entitled to more favourable trade terms concerning steel and aluminium, while market access would be restricted to non-participants. At the same time, the agreement aims to impose sanctions on non-participants in the form of trade tariffs on steel and aluminium imports, to 'incentivise' those countries to pursue low-carbon production methods (Espa and Holzer, 2023).

Accordingly, the GASSA could arguably form the nucleus for the world's first Nordhaus-style climate club. Nevertheless, clubs of this nature raise several implications from the perspective of CBDR-RC. First, despite being open in principle to 'any interested country' (European Commission, 2021a), the club's proposed membership criteria is likely to exclude certain countries from joining, specifically China, the largest global producer of steel. Currently, China accounts for over half the world's total steel production (World Steel Association, 2023). Accordingly, the criterion concerning non-market excess capacity 'appear[s] to be specifically designed to exclude one economy from [GASSA] membership, irrespective of non-market excess capacity considerations – i.e. China – and discourage prospective [GASSA] members' steel and aluminium imports and investments from China' (Kleimann, 2023: p. 10). Concerns that the membership criteria will also preclude other countries from joining have been raised, such as South Korea, the world's sixth largest steel producer (see Choi, 2023). This raises questions around GASSA's so-called open membership.

In addition to concerns surrounding the inclusiveness of the club, the proposed commitments also raise implications with respect to CBDR-RC. As mentioned, members would have to commit to emissions intensity standards. Specifically, the average emissions intensity should not exceed 'a certain percentage higher than the average emissions intensity of EU and US steel and aluminium' (Kleimann, 2023: p. 12). Furthermore, the EU's proposal would require all members to adopt legally binding obligations to fully decarbonise their steel and aluminium industries by 2050, including interim targets for 2030 and 2040 (Kleimann, 2023).

However, in line with the principle of CBDR-RC, developing countries bear less responsibility than developed countries to mitigate climate change. The key question then is whether, and how, differentiated responsibilities would be reflected within the GASSA's final design structure with respect to these obligations. For example, in relation to achieving net-zero by 2050, it is questionable whether developing countries can reasonably be expected to commit to this. Under the Paris Agreement,

several developing countries have set longer-term net-zero targets than 2050. Indonesia, China and Nigeria have committed to reach net-zero by 2060, and India has committed to reach net-zero by 2070 (Climate Action Tracker, 2023). In addition, the legally binding nature of these commitments also pose implications for CBDR-RC with respect to developing countries, given that binding mitigation targets have so far only applied to developed countries under the climate regime.

Another design element that is particularly problematic is the inclusion of trade barriers, specifically in the form of a common external tariff against carbon-intensive steel and aluminium imports from non-participating countries (Espa and Holzer, 2023). If uniform trade tariffs are adopted, this will create adverse distributional effects, placing an unfair burden on developing countries. This would undermine the principle of CBDR-RC by burdening imports from developing countries at the same level as developed countries. To avoid economic damage, developing countries may be compelled to adopt equivalent club rules. Accordingly, this would effectively 'equalise' developed and developing countries.

Last but not least is the question surrounding whether the GASSA will entail any scope for assistance for developing country members. Currently, there are no provisions for this, at least in the eyes of the US negotiators. However, 'leaked' documents concerning the EU's position do make some reference to the provision of support for least-developed countries (Rimini et al., 2023). Nevertheless, there has been no explicit discussion of this so far with respect to formal negotiations. Absent support for developing country members, such as financial, technology access and general capacity building, this will raise further tensions with respect to CBDR-RC.

In its proposed form, the GASSA, for the reasons described above, will prove difficult to reconcile with the principle of CBDR-RC. Notwithstanding, the agreement is yet to be concluded. Hence, the devil will be in the (final) details.

#### 4.2 Embedding differentiation into the architecture of future climate clubs

Based on the foregoing analysis, all three design options raise implications with respect to CBDR-RC in several ways. Nevertheless, this does not mean that these implications cannot be addressed, nor that climate clubs are inherently misaligned with CBDR-RC. Several existing club-like arrangements have successfully embedded differentiation into their design structures in various ways. Accordingly, this section will discuss different options for integrating differential treatment into the architecture of future climate clubs, namely (1) differentiation through membership tiers, (2) differentiation through membership commitments, (3) differentiation through mechanisms for means of implementation, and (4) differentiation through compliance mechanisms.

To inform the analysis, this section will incorporate some concrete examples of how differentiation has manifested in existing minilateral climate institutions, including the CEM, the CCAC, the Beyond Oil and Gas Alliance (BOGA), the Partnership for Market Readiness (PMR), the Powering Past Coal Alliance (PPCA), the Asia-Pacific Partnership on Clean Development and Climate (APP), and the Energy+ Partnership, and the Montreal Protocol.

#### 4.2.1 Differentiation through membership tiers

One way that climate clubs could integrate differentiation into their architecture is through the

creation of different membership tiers, that classify members into distinct categories. Several clubs have established membership tiers, or similar approaches, that enable clear differentiation between members. One example is the BOGA, which seeks to phase-out oil and gas production. The BOGA offers three different categories of membership that countries can choose from: (1) core members, (2) associate members, and (3) friends (BOGA, 2023a). Core members must commit to ending new 'concessions, licensing or leasing rounds for oil and gas production and exploration' (BOGA, 2023a). In addition, they are also required to set explicit, measurable targets for fully phasing-out oil and gas production and exploration in their jurisdiction, in alignment with the Paris Agreement (BOGA, 2023a). Unlike core members, associate members are not required to adopt full licensing bans. Nevertheless, they must undertake some 'significant concrete steps' that help restrict the supply of fossil fuels (BOGA, 2023a). Examples include domestic subsidy reform and ending international public financial support (BOGA, 2023a). Friends are only required to sign up to the Declaration and hence demonstrate their support for the general objectives of the BOGA, including to 'support a socially just and equitable transition to align oil and gas production with the objectives of the Paris Agreement' (BOGA, n.d).

Another example is the PMR, which seeks to support countries in designing and implementing marketbased mitigation instruments, through information sharing and the provision of technical and financial support (Moyer, 2012). The PMR explicitly differentiations between 'contributing participants', 'implementing country participants' and 'technical partners'. The contributing partners are specifically comprised of developed countries that provide financial support to the trust fund. On the other hand, the implementing country participants are comprised of developing or emerging countries, who receive financial and technical support to develop domestic market-based mechanisms to tackle climate change (Moyer, 2012). The technical partners represent countries at an 'advanced stage of carbon mitigation policy development', (Climate Funds Update, n.d). Unlike the contributing participants, who explicitly provide financial support, the technical partners engage in the PMR through collaborative activities, primarily via knowledge exchange (Climate Funds Update, n.d).

While less explicit than distinguished categories, the CEM functions on the basis of a 'distributed leadership model'. This model affords members the flexibility to decide (1) what initiatives they wish to become involved in; and (2) how deep their involvement is with respect to these initiatives (Yu, 2019). Under this bottom-up approach, 'any government interested in furthering a substantive idea on clean energy technology is encouraged to identify willing partners and proceed' (Yu, Bernstein and Hoffman, 2021: p. 6). If members do choose to partake in a specific initiative, they then decide whether they will participate as a leader or co-leader (Yu, 2019). Yu et al. (2021) attribute the success of the CEM to this 'opt-in' system.

#### 4.2.2 Differentiation through members' commitments

Another way that climate clubs can incorporate differentiation into their design structure is through the creation of differentiated commitments for members. Some existing clubs provide for differentiation between members with respect to their commitments. A clear example of this is the BOGA. As mentioned, the BOGA distinguishes between core members, associate members, and friends. While all core members are required to commit to phase-out dates for the production of oil and gas, these dates are based on differentiation between the different countries. BOGA explicitly states that while climate change is a 'global challenge that requires global solutions', it also acknowledges that 'some countries will have a greater capacity to phase-out oil and gas production faster' (BOGA, 2023b). Accordingly, in its Declaration, the BOGA provides that 'industrialised countries should lead the way' (BOGA, n.d). To this end, the BOGA clearly recognises that poorer countries will need more time, and support, to make their transitions towards clean energy, particularly those that are heavily reliant on fossil fuel revenues.

Another club that has pursued differentiation in a similar manner to the BOGA is the PPCA launched at COP23, which seeks to advance the transition from coal to clean energy. Under the PPCA, all country members must commit to phasing out unabated coal power generation. However, the PPCA recognises that 'not all countries can completely phase out the use of unabated coal at the same rate' (UK Government, 2017). Accordingly, the PPCA provides differentiated phase-out timelines for coal, comprising 2030 for OECD and EU countries and 2050 for developing and emerging economies (Bi, Bauer and Jewell, 2023; Muttitt et al., 2023).

A further example, albeit more implicit than the approach that is pursued by the BOGA and PPCA, is the now defunct APP. The APP comprised several of the world's key GHG emitters, including developed and developing countries, to tackle the issues of air pollution, energy security and climate protection (APP, 2007). To achieve its objectives, the APP adopted a 'decentralised structure' that allowed for differentiation between countries in accordance with their national circumstances (Fujiwara, 2007: p. 2). While members were encouraged to establish their own non-binding national goals and targets to reduce greenhouse gas intensity (McGee and Taplin, 2009), the level of ambition was to reflect their 'national circumstances', as stated in the Charter (APP, 2007: p. 1).

#### 4.2.3 Differentiation through mechanisms for means of implementation

In addition to membership tiers and commitments, climate clubs can also operationalise differentiation through the creation of mechanisms for means of implementation that provide support to developing countries, such as financial, technological access, and capacity building. Several clubs provide support that is specifically targeted towards their developing country members, primarily in the form of direct funding from developed country members. For example, the CCAC has created a Trust Fund that helps support project implementation in developing countries, to assist them in achieving their goals under the coalition (CCAC, 2021). Between 2012 and 2021, around \$96 million financial support was provided by developed countries (CCAC, 2021). Further funding has been pledged beyond this period. While funding is exclusively provided by developed country members, the Trust Fund nevertheless functions on a voluntary basis (Unger, Mar and Gürtler, 2020).

While the Montreal Protocol eventually achieved universal ratification in 2009, as mentioned above, it arguably started out as an exclusive club (Gopalakrishnan, 2021; Ott, 2014). Likewise to the CCAC, the Montreal Protocol also has its own financial mechanism established under Article 10, called the

Multilateral Fund for the Implementation of the Montreal Protocol (MLF). The creation of the MLF has been described as playing 'a key role in facilitating developing countries to ratify the protocol' (Zhao, 2002: p. 332). Under Article 10.6, financial contributions to the MLF are provided voluntarily by developed countries to help support developing countries, through financial and technical assistance, to meet their obligations under the Protocol to phase-out ozone-depleting substances.

Another existing club-like arrangement that facilitates the flow of funding from its developed to developing country members is the Energy+ Partnership, launched by Norway in 2011. Energy+ is designed to help '[scale] up access to renewable energy sources and [increase] energy efficiency', specifically in developing countries (Energy+ Partnership, 2011: p. 1). Accordingly, under the initiative, developed country partners are expected to 'provide funding for scaled up development and implementation of low carbon development and energy strategies and actions', while developing country partners are expected to 'demonstrate strong political will and national support to achieve the Energy+ Partnership goals, including coordination of actions and policy changes to facilitate access to renewable energy and energy efficiency investments' (Energy+ Partnership, 2011 p. 2).

#### 4.2.4 Differentiation through compliance mechanisms

Currently, there are next to no existing club-like arrangements that provide for differentiation through their compliance mechanisms, or have compliance mechanisms in the first place. Nevertheless, future climate clubs should aspire to integrate compliance mechanisms that accommodate differentiation into their architecture, as a means of encouraging implementation, enhancing trust among members, and avoiding free-riding. Drawing inspiration from the climate regime, in addition to the Montreal Protocol, this section offers several suggestions for incorporating differentiation into the compliance mechanisms of future climate clubs.

First, climate clubs could operationalise differentiation through flexible implementation schedules for developing country members. This is an approach that has been adopted under the Montreal Protocol. The Montreal Protocol's preamble '[acknowledges] that special provision is required to meet the needs of developing countries'. One way that the Montreal Protocol has addressed this is under its Article 5, which offers developing countries a 10 year 'grace period' to implement their phase-out obligations. Adopting a similar mechanism under a climate club would provide developing country members with some flexibility to implement their commitments, reflecting the different responsibilities and capacities between developed and developing countries.

Another way of embedding differentiation is through the creation of delayed reporting schedules. As discussed above, the UNFCCC affords developing countries more time than developed countries to submit their first initial reports. Drawing on this experience, climate clubs could follow a similar approach. For example, a club could require all of its members to submit annual reports to track and monitor progress towards certain goals or targets, including an inventory on domestic GHG emissions and policies to implement their commitments. However, a club could offer delayed schedules for developing country members, allowing them some flexibility to submit their reports, as compared to developed country members.

Last but not least, climate clubs could also offer assistance to developing country members to help them prepare their reports, including financial and technical support. This approach has been pursued under the climate regime and the Montreal Protocol. The capacity of developing countries to enhance transparency under the climate regime has been described as a 'fundamental limitation' (Tian and Xiang, 2018: p. 260). Developing countries face several constraints, including financial and technical resources and institutional arrangements (Tian and Xiang, 2018). Providing support is therefore crucial to help developing country members meet reporting requirements and overall, help facilitate transparency.

#### 5 Conclusions

This article has sought to offer an examination of how different climate club design options raise implications from the perspective of CBDR-RC, with respect to how the principle has been articulated and operationalised under the climate regime. Concrete examples of three existing club-like arrangements that differ significantly in terms of their key design features are analysed, including the Climate Club, the CEM, and the proposed GASSA.

The Climate Club is characterised by its inclusivity and comprises several developed and developing nations. While crafting clubs of this nature are not confronted by high political barriers, the extent that they are capable of driving substantive climate action, rather than merely 'elevating cheap talk and symbolic gestures', is questionable (Falkner, Nasiritousi and Reischl, 2022: p. 483). Of the three case studies, the analysis finds that the Climate Club is the least problematic of the design options from the perspective of CBDR-RC. Nonetheless, the analysis sheds light on two specific features of the Climate Club, namely the overall objective of achieving climate neutrality by or around 2050, and the possible adoption of future trade mechanisms. Both of these challenges, however, could be resolved by differential treatment.

The CEM is representative of a climate club that is strictly exclusive i.e. membership is contingent on invitation. Additionally, its membership is confined to the world's major economies. It therefore suffers from a lack of inclusivity and specifically excludes less powerful countries. Accordingly, several scholars have criticised the rise of exclusive minilateralism in global climate governance (see Bäckstrand, Zelli and Schleifer, 2018; Eckersley, 2012; Weischer, Morgan and Patel, 2012). Some have argued that clubs of this nature have provided powerful developed countries with a strategic platform to contest and evade implementation of the CBDR-RC principle (see McGee, 2015). Here, the most significant risk is that key decisions on international climate policy can be adopted in exclusive clubs that negatively impact developing countries, especially those most vulnerable to the consequences of climate change, including SIDS and LDCs.

While the GASSA may provide the seedlings for the world's first Nordhaus-style climate club, its prospective design features raise several tensions from the perspective of CBDR-RC. First, the proposed membership criteria appears to discriminate against a specific country from participating, namely China. Whether this criteria will also exclude other countries from joining has been raised, casting doubt on GASSA's so-called inclusivity. Second, the obligations that the GASSA envisages also present challenges, in terms of both content and bindingness. Whether developing country members can be reasonably expected to undertake equivalent commitments to developed country members, that are also legally binding in nature, is questionable. Third, the application of uniform trade tariffs against non-participants also raises concerns around burdening countries at the same level, despite their status as developed or developing. Fourth, whether the GASSA will provide any support for developing country members also remains uncertain.

Despite being significantly distinct in terms of their design, the analysis finds that all three of the design options present implications for CBDR-RC. The evolution of the G7 club is a particularly interesting case study with respect to the relevance of CBDR-RC and the difficulties associated with the formation of climate clubs in practice. As mentioned, the initial German proposal to establish a Nordhaus-style club ultimately lost steam. In its original formulation, the club would have likely violated the principle of CBDR-RC. The proposal failed to gain traction within the G7, and received strong pushback outside of the G7, in part for exactly this reason. While the analysis noted a couple of outstanding considerations with respect to the finalised Climate Club and CBDR-RC, these could be resolved through differential treatment between developed and developing country members, as mentioned above. Depending on their specific design structure, however, climate clubs could provide exclusive venues for the world's most powerful nations at the expense of the most vulnerable, as highlighted by the analysis concerning the CEM. Moreover, climate clubs could provide a forum for countries to strategically exclude specific countries (and hence undermine the principle of CBDR-RC). The GASSA is representative of a real-world case where countries are trying to do exactly that, with respect to China.

With this analysis in mind, this article has concluded by deliberating how differential treatment can be woven into the architecture of future climate clubs, drawing on the experience of existing minilateral climate governance arrangements. Several avenues for integrating CBDR-RC into clubs are explored, namely: (1) differentiation through membership tiers; (2) differentiation through commitments, (3) differentiation through mechanisms for means of implementation, and (4) differentiation through compliance mechanisms. With respect to differentiation through membership tiers, several clubs classify their members into clearly defined categories with corresponding commitments. In addition to membership tiers, some clubs have also pursued differentiation with respect to members' commitments, including differentiated timelines for coal phase-out. Alongside membership tiers and commitments, some clubs have integrated differentiation into their design structure through mechanisms for means of implementation into their design structure through mechanisms for means of implementation into their design structure through mechanisms for means of an ot pursued this, the Montreal Protocol and Paris Agreement both provide some useful lessons learned, including flexible implementation mechanisms, delayed reporting schedules, and assistance to fulfil reporting requirements.

While this article has demonstrated the implications posed by forming minilateral climate clubs with respect to the principle of CBDR-RC, including in the context of specific design options, it has also highlighted several ways of embedding differential treatment into future clubs. By embracing differentiation into their design structure, climate clubs can still offer a way to move international climate policy forward, without the risk of contravening, and being misaligned with, the climate regime.

#### References

- Albrecht, F., and Parker, C. (2019). Healing the ozone layer: the Montreal Protocol and the lessons and limits of a global governance success story. In M. Compton and P. Hart (Eds), *Great Policy Successes*. Oxford University Press.
- Andresen, S. (2014). Exclusive approaches to climate governance: More effective than the UNFCCC? In T.L. Cherry, J. Hovi and D.M. McEvoy (Eds), *Toward a new climate agreement: Conflict, resolution and governance*. Routledge.
- Arhin, A., and Kalaba, F. (2023). Tackling the climate crisis: exploring the implications of the proposed g7 climate club on climate and development agendas of African countries.
  https://afripoli.org/tackling-climate-crisis-exploring-the-implications-of-the-proposed-g7-climate-club-on-climate-and-development-agendas-of-african-countries.
- Asia-Pacific Partnership on Clean Development and Climate. (2007). Charter for the Asia-Pacific Partnership on Clean Development and Climate. https://www.env.go.jp/content/900442631.pdf.
- Bäckstrand, K., Zelli, F., and Schleifer, P. (2018). Legitimacy and accountability in polycentric climate governance. In A. Jordan, D. Huitema, H. van Asselt and J. Forster (Eds), *Governing Climate Change: Polycentricity in Action?* Cambridge University Press.
- Bartenstein, K. (2010). De Stockholm à Copenhague Genèse et évolution des responsabilités communes mais différenciées dans le droit international de l'environnement. McGill Law Journal, 56(1), 177-228.
- Beyond Oil and Gas Alliance. (2023a). Who we are. https://beyondoilandgasalliance.org/who-we-are/.
- Beyond Oil and Gas Alliance. (2023b). The situation. https://beyondoilandgasalliance.org/why-boga/.
- Beyond Oil and Gas Alliance. (n.d). The Beyond Oil and Gas Declaration. https://drive.google.com/file/d/176fTn0z5aNr-vhUecAsLOD8Jg110dQMF/view.
- Bi, S., Bauer, N., and Jewell, J. (2023). Coal-exit alliance must confront freeriding sectors to propel Paris-aligned momentum. Nature Climate Change, 13, 130-139.
- Bodansky, D. (2016). The legal character of the Paris agreement. Review of European, Comparative and International Environmental Law, 25(2), 142-150.
- Brandi, C., and Bauer, S. (forthcoming 2017). Climate clubs: Potentials and pitfalls for enhancing legitimacy in global climate governance. Bonn: German Development Institute, in press.

Buchanan, J. (1965). An economic theory of clubs. Economica, 32, 1-14.

Bundes Finanz Ministerium. (2021). Steps towards an alliance for climate, competitiveness and industry – building blocks of a cooperative and open climate club. https://www.bundesfinanzministerium.de/Content/EN/Downloads/Climate-Action/key-issuespaper-international-climate-club.pdf?\_\_\_blob=publicationFile&v=4.

- Castro, P. (2016). Common but differentiated responsibilities beyond the nation state: How is differential treatment addressed in transnational climate governance initiatives? Transnational Environmental Law, 5(2), 379-400.
- Chen, C., and Zeckhauser, R. (2018). Collective action in an asymmetric world. Journal of Public Economics, 158, 103-112.
- Chen, Y. (2021). Reconciling common but differentiated responsibilities principle and no more favourable treatment principle in regulating greenhouse gas emissions from international shipping. Marine Policy, 123, 104317.
- Choi, J. (2023). Concerns over South Korea's steel industry amid US-EU 'green steel club' discussions. https://www.businesskorea.co.kr/news/articleView.html?idxno=203516.
- Clean Energy Ministerial. (2019). A guide to the Clean Energy Ministerial: Advancing clean energy together. https://www.cleanenergyministerial.org/content/uploads/2022/03/cem-brochurefebruary-2020.pdf.

Clean Energy Ministerial. (2023). Who are we. https://www.cleanenergyministerial.org/who-we-are/.

Climate Action Tracker. (2023). Climate Action Tracker: Countries. https://climateactiontracker.org/.

Climate and Clean Air Coalition. (2021). Annual Report: 2020-2021. https://www.ccacoalition.org/content/annual-report-2020-2021-0.

- Climate and Clean Air Coalition. n.d. Our work: Our approach. https://www.ccacoalition.org/fr/content/our-approach.
- Climate Club. (2023). Climate Club Work Programme 2024: Adopted by the Task Force of the Climate Club. https://climate-club.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/11/CC-Work-Programme-2024\_bf\_final.pdf.
- Climate Funds Update. (n.d). Partnership for Market Readiness. https://climatefundsupdate.org/thefunds/partnership-for-market-readiness-2/.
- Cullet, P. (2021). Common but differentiated responsibilities. In M. Fitzmaurice, M. Brus, P. Merkouris and A. Rydberg (Eds), *Research Handbook on International Environmental Law.* Edward Elgar Publishing.
- Depledge, Y., and Yamin, F. (2009). The global climate-change regime: a defence. In D. Helm and C. Hepburn (Eds), *The economics and politics of climate change*. Oxford University Press.
- Eckersley, R. (2012). Moving forward in the climate negotiations: Multilateralism or minilateralism? Global Environmental Politics, 12, 24-42.
- Energy+ Partnership. (2011). Guiding principles. https://www.regjeringen.no/globalassets/upload/ud/vedlegg/energi/guiding\_principles.pdf.
- Energy+ Partnership. (2012). Energy+ country partnership strategy. https://www.regjeringen.no/globalassets/upload/ud/vedlegg/energi/energyplus\_partnership.pd f.

#### D6.3a – Analysing Climate Club Design Options through the lens of CBDR-RC

- Espa, I., and Holzer, K. (2023). Are climate clubs compatible with world trade law? https://dievolkswirtschaft.ch/de/2023/10/sind-klimaclubs-mit-dem-welthandelsrechtvereinbar/.
- European Commission. (2021a). Joint EU-US Statement on a Global Arrangement on Sustainable Steel and Aluminium. https://ec.europa.eu/commission/presscorner/detail/en/ip\_21\_5724.
- European Commission. (2021b). EU and US agree to start discussions on a Global Arrangement on Sustainable Steel and Aluminium and suspend steel and aluminium trade disputes. https://ec.europa.eu/commission/presscorner/detail/en/ip\_21\_5721.
- Falkner, R. (2016). A minilateral solution for global climate change? On bargaining efficiency, club benefits, and international legitimacy. Perspectives on Politics, 17(1), 87–101.
- Falkner, R., Nasiritousi, N., and Reischl, G. (2022). Climate clubs: politically feasible and desirable? Climate Policy, 22(4), 480-497.
- Forner, C., and Díaz, M. (2023). A review of intergovernmental cooperation on the mitigation of climate change. World Resources Institute Working Paper. https://files.wri.org/d8/s3fspublic/2023-10/review-intergovernmental-cooperation-mitigation-climatechange.pdf?VersionId=gToTGs\_WJVmS7fMlpf1I04TyXh0opa3D.
- Fujiwara, N. (2007). The Asia-Pacific Partnership on Clean Development and Climate: What it is and what it is not. Centre for European Policy Studies Policy Brief. https://aei.pitt.edu/11710/1/1552.pdf.
- Gampfer, R. (2016). Minilateralism or the UNFCCC? The political feasibility of climate clubs. Global Environmental Politics, 16(3), 62–88.
- Gopalakrishnan, T. (2021). What the 1987 Montreal Protocol teaches us about carbon border taxes. https://www.climatepolicylab.org/climatesmart/2021/8/17/what-the-1987-montreal-protocolteaches-us-about-carbon-border-taxes.
- Green, J. (2017). The strength of weakness: pseudo-clubs in the climate regime. Climatic Change, 144, 41-52.
- G7. (2022). Terms of Reference for the Climate Club.
  https://www.g7germany.de/resource/blob/974430/2153140/a04dde2adecf0ddd38cb9829a99c
  322d/2022-12-12-g7-erklaerung-data.pdf?download=1.
- Hale, T. (2011). A climate coalition of the willing. The Washington Quarterly, 34(1), 89-101.
- Hermwille, L., Lechtenböhmer, S., Åhman, M., van Asselt, H., Bataille, C., Kronshage, S., Tönjes, A.,
  Fischedick, M., Oberthür, S., Garg, A., Hall, C., Jochem, P., Schneider, C., Cui, R., Obergassel, W.,
  Fragkos, P., Sudharmma Vishwanathan S., and Trollip, H. (2022). A climate club to decarbonize
  the global steel industry. Nature Climate Change, 12, 494–496.
- Hovi, J., Sprinz, D., Sælen, H., and Underdal, A. (2016). Climate change mitigation: a role for climate clubs? Palgrave Communications, 2, 1-9.
- Hovi, J., Sprinz, D., Sælen, H., and Underdal, A. (2019). The club approach: A gateway to effective climate co-operation? British Journal of Political Science, 49(3), 1071-1096.

- Huda, M. (2023). The G7's Climate Club: ASEAN need not have high expectations. https://fulcrum.sg/the-g7s-climate-club-asean-need-not-have-highexpectations/#:~:text=The%20initiative%20is%20still%20being,international%20climate%20coo peration%20and%20partnerships.
- Jordan, A., Huitema, D., Hildén, M., van Asselt, H., Rayner, T., Schoenefeld, J., Tosun, J., Forster, J., and Boasson, E. (2015). Emergence of polycentric climate governance and its future prospects. Nature Climate Change, 5, 977-982.
- Kleimann, D. (2023). Section 232 Reloaded: The false promise of the transatlantic 'climate club' for steel and aluminium. Working Paper 11/2023, Bruegel. https://www.bruegel.org/sites/default/files/2023-07/WP%2011.pdf.
- Knight, F.H. (1924). Some fallacies in the interpretation of social cost. The Quarterly Journal of Economics, 38(4), 582-606.
- Kolmaš, M. (2023). The failure of CBDR in global environmental politics. Global Environmental Politics, 23(1), 11-19.
- Kopela, S. (2014). Climate change, regime interaction, and the principle of common but differentiated responsibility: The experience of the International Maritime Organization. Yearbook of International Environmental Law, 24(1), 70-101.
- Kumar, P., von Lüpke, H., Fesit, M., Exner-Pirot, H., and Bardt, H. (2022). Perspectives on designing a climate club: Alliance-building to strengthen international climate cooperation. https://epico.org/uploads/images/Perspectives-on-designing-a-climate-club.pdf.
- Leal-Arcas, R. (2020). Climate clubs and international trade across the European and international landscape. European Energy and Environmental Law Review, 29(3), 72-88.
- McGee, J. (2015). Minilateralism. In K. Bäckstrand and E. Lövbrand (Eds), *Research Handbook on Climate Governance*. Edward Elgar Publishing.
- McGee, J., and Taplin, R. (2009). The Asia-Pacific Partnership on Clean Development and Climate: A retreat from the principle of common but differentiated responsibilities? McGill International Journal of Sustainable Development Law and Policy, 5(1), 11-43.
- Morin, J., Brandi, C., and Schwab, J. (2023). Environmental agreements as clubs: Evidence from a new dataset of trade provisions. The Review of International Organizations, 19, 33-62.
- Moyer, S. (2012). Building market readiness: Status quo and future prospects. Carbon & Climate Law Review, 6(4), 414-416.
- Muttitt, G., Price, J., Pye, S., and Welsby, D. (2023). Socio-political feasibility of coal power phase-out and its role in mitigation pathways. Nature Climate Change, 13(2), 140-147.
- Nasiritousi, N., and Reischl, G. (2022). Could the G7 climate club work? Lessons learned from climate coalitions. https://www.ui.se/globalassets/ui.se-eng/publications/ui-publications/2022/ui-paper-no.-4-2022\_ny.pdf.
- Nordhaus, W. (2015). Climate clubs: Overcoming free-riding in international climate policy. American Economic Review, 105(4), 1339-1370.

- Obergassel, W., Wang-Helmreich, H., and Hermwille, L. (2019). A sectoral perspective on climate clubs. COP21 Ripples Report, Wuppertal Institut für Klima, Umwelt, Energie. https://epub.wupperinst.org/frontdoor/deliver/index/docId/7547/file/7547\_Climate\_Clubs.pdf.
- Olson, M. (1965). The Logic of Collective Action. Harvard University Press.
- Ott, H. (2014). Why we need climate clubs A second track climate strategy. https://sdg.iisd.org/commentary/guest-articles/why-we-need-climate-clubs-a-second-trackclimate-strategy/.
- Pallemaerts, M. (1995). La conference de Rio: Grandeur ou décadence du droit international de l'environnement? Revue Belge de Droit International, 28(1), 175-223.
- Paroussos, L., Mandel, A., Fragkiadakis, K., Fragkos, P., Hinkel, J., and Vrontisi, Z. (2019). Climate clubs and the macro-economic benefits of international cooperation on climate policy. Nature Climate Change, 9, 542-546.
- Pauw, P., Bauer, S., Richerzhagen, C., Brandi, C., and Schmole, H. (2014). Different perspectives on differentiated responsibilities: A state-of-the-art review of the notion of common but differentiated responsibilities in international negotiations. Deutsches Institut für Entwicklungspolitik Discussion Paper. https://www.idosresearch.de/uploads/media/DP\_6.2014..pdf.
- Pauw, P., Mbeva, K., and van Asselt, H. (2019). Subtle differentiation of countries' responsibilities under the Paris Agreement. Palgrave Communications, 5, 1-7.
- Pigou, A. (1920). The Economics of Welfare. Palgrave MacMillan.
- Pihl, H. (2020). A Climate Club as a complementary design to the UN Paris agreement. Policy Design and Practice, 3(1), 45-57.
- Prakash, A., and Potoski, M. (2007). Collective action through voluntary environmental programs: A club theory perspective. Policy Studies Journal, 35(4), 773–792.
- Rajamani, L. (2000). The principle of common but differentiated responsibility and the balance of commitments under the climate regime. Review of European Community and International Environmental Law, 9(2), 120-131.
- Rajamani, L. (2006). *Differential Treatment in International Environmental Law*. Oxford University Press.
- Rajamani, L. (2018). The principle of common but differentiated responsibilities and respective capabilities in the international climate change regime. In R. Lyster and R. Verhick (Eds), *Research Handbook on Climate Disaster Law.* Edward Elgar Publishing.
- Rajamani, L. (2023). Common but differentiated responsibilities. In M. Faure (Ed), *Elgar Encyclopaedia of Environmental Law: Version VI*. Edward Elgar Publishing.
- Rimini, M., Peters, J., Vangenechten, D., and Lehne, J. (2023). The EU-US Global Arrangement on Sustainable Steel and Aluminium: Resetting negotiations for a carbon-based sectoral agreement.
   E3G Briefing Paper. https://www.e3g.org/wp-content/uploads/EU-US-global-arrangement-onsustainable-steel-and-aluminium-briefing.pdf.

- Rinke, B., and Schneckener, U. (2013). Informalisation of world politics? Global governance by clubs.
  In T. Diebel, J. Hippler, M. Roth, and C. Ulbert (Eds), *Global Trends 2013: Peace Development Environment*. Stiftung Entwicklung und Frieden.
- Sands, P., and Peel, J. (2018). *Principles of International Environmental Law.* Cambridge University Press.
- Savaresi, A. (2016). The Paris Agreement: a new beginning? Journal of Energy & Natural Resources Law, 34(1), 16-26.
- Scott, J., and Rajamani, L. (2012). EU climate change unilateralism. European Journal of International Law, 23(2), 469-494.
- Singh, S. (2022). Tracing the "common but differentiated responsibilities" (CBDR) principle under climate change regime. Indian Journal of Law and Justice, 13(2), 251-272.
- Stone, C. (2004). Common but differentiated responsibilities in international law. The American Journal of International Law, 98(2), 276-301.
- Stua, M. (2017). Climate clubs and their relevance within the Paris agreement. In M. Stua (Ed), From the Paris agreement to a low-carbon bretton woods: Rationale for the establishment of a mitigation alliance. Springer.
- Tagliapietra, S., and Wolff, G. (2021). Form a climate club: United States, European Union and China. Nature, 591(7851), 526–528.
- The White House. (2023). Joint statement by President Biden and President von der Leyen. https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-room/statements-releases/2023/03/10/jointstatementby-president-biden-and-president-von-der-leyen-2/.
- Tiebout, C. (1956). A pure theory of local expenditures. Journal of Political Economy, 64(5), 416–424.
- Tosun, J., and Rinscheid, A. (2020). The Clean Energy Ministerial: Motivation for and policy consequences of membership. International Political Science Review, 42(1), 114-129.

UK Government. (2017). Climate Change Minister Claire Perry launches Powering Past Coal Alliance at COP23. https://www.gov.uk/government/news/climate-change-minister-claire-perrylaunches-powering-past-coal-alliance-atcop23#:~:text=The%20Powering%20Past%20Coal%20Alliance,end%20to%20unabated%20coal% 20power.

- Unger, C., and Thielges, S. (2023). Benefits and challenges of expanding the G7 climate club to a G20 climate club. T20 Policy Brief. https://www.orfonline.org/wp-content/uploads/2023/06/T20\_PolicyBrief\_TF7\_G20ClimateClub.pdf.
- Unger, C., Mar, K., and Gürtler, K. (2020). A club's contribution to global climate governance: the case of the Climate and Clean Air Coalition. Palgrave Communications, 6(1), 1-10.
- United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change. (2001). The Marrakesh Accords and The Marrakesh Declaration. https://unfccc.int/cop7/documents/accords\_draft.pdf.
- United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change. (2011). Decision 1/CP.16 The Cancun Agreements: Outcome of the work of the Ad Hoc Working Group on Long-term Cooperative

Action under the Convention. FCCC/CP/2010/7/Add.1. https://unfccc.int/resource/docs/2010/cop16/eng/07a01.pdf.

- United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change. (2023). Nationally determined contributions under the Paris Agreement. Synthesis report by the secretariat. https://unfccc.int/documents/632334.
- Victor, D. (2011). *Global Warming Gridlock: Creating More Effective Strategies for Protecting the Planet.* Cambridge University Press.
- Victor, D. (2015). The case for climate clubs. E15 Initiative. https://www.greenpolicyplatform.org/sites/default/files/downloads/resource//The%20Case%20 for%20Climate%20Clubs.pdf.
- Voigt, C., and Ferreira, F. (2016). Differentiation in the Paris agreement. Climate Law, 6, 58-74.
- Tian, W., and Xiang, G. (2018). Reflection and operationalization of the common but differentiated responsibilities and respective capabilities principle in the transparency framework under the international climate change regime. Advances in Climate Change Research, 9(4), 253-263.
- Weikmans, R., van Asselt, H., and Roberts, T. (2020). Transparency requirements under the Paris Agreement and their (un)likely impact on strengthening the ambition of nationally determined contributions (NDCs). Climate Policy, 20(4), 511-526.
- Weischer, L., Morgan, J., and Patel, M. (2012). Climate clubs: Can small groups of countries make a big difference in addressing climate change? Review of European Community and International Environmental Law, 21(3), 177-192.
- Wiseman, J. (1957). The theory of public utility price an empty box. Oxford Economic Papers, 9(1), 56–74.
- Wolff, G. (2020). Europe should promote a Climate Club after the US elections. https://www.bruegel.org/comment/europe-should-promote-climate-club-after-us-elections.
- World Steel Association. (2023). World Steel Figures 2023. https://worldsteel.org/publications/bookshop/world-steel-in-figures-2023/?do\_download\_id=d36adaf7-e4d4-436b-bcdb-15f9f708ddf7
- Yu, B. (2019). Climate Clubs and global decarbonization: A comparison of the APP and the CEM.
  Environmental Governance Lab Working Paper 2019-1.
  https://munkschool.utoronto.ca/egl/files/2019/01/Yu\_EGL\_Working\_Paper\_2019-1.pdf.
- Yu, B., Bernstein, S., and Hoffmann, M. (2021). Building durable climate clubs: Lessons from a comparative study of the APP and CEM. Chinese Journal of Population, Resources and Environment, 19(2), 117-124.
- Zefferman, M. (2018). Cultural multilevel selection suggests neither large or small cooperative agreements are likely to solve climate change without changing the game. Sustainability Science, 13, 109-118.
- Zhao, J. (2002). The multilateral fund and China's compliance with the Montreal Protocol. The Journal of Environment & Development, 11(4), 331-354.





NDC ASPECTS project has received funding from the European Union's Horizon 2020 Research and Innovation programme under grant agreement No 101003866

#### www.ndc-aspects.eu



@ndcaspects

